STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

ORIGINAL

Certiorari to Williamsburg County
Honorable Steven H. John, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED
AUG 12 2018
SC SUPREME COURT

ANTWINE MATTHEWS,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2016-000048

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

LAURA R. BAER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUES PRESENTED

I. Whether the PCR court erred in finding trial counsel was effective where trial counsel failed to object to a change in the presiding judge midway through the trial?

II. Whether the PCR court erred in finding that trial counsel was effective where trial counsel failed to properly advise Petitioner regarding the ten-year plea offer and Petitioner was ultimately sentenced to a total of twenty years incarceration?

III. Whether the PCR court erred in finding appellate counsel was effective where they failed to file a motion to reconstruct the important missing portions of the trial transcript and by the time of the PCR hearing trial counsel's memory had faded and the Clerk's office had lost or misplaced all of the trial exhibits?

IV. Whether the PCR court erred in finding that Petitioner could not prove prejudice as to any of his allegations due to overwhelming evidence of guilt?

V. Whether the PCR court erred in denying Petitioner's Motion to Alter or Amend where the court failed to set forth specific findings of fact and conclusions of law relating to the allegation that trial counsel was ineffective in failing to object to the Court's response to the jury's questions and recharge of the jury?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Introduction

Shortly after midnight on December 31, 2008, Petitioner's co-defendants, Jeffrey Dawkins and Melvin Segars, went into Ervin Cooper's grocery store in Williamsburg County.¹ Petitioner Matthews went into the store a few minutes after them. App. 65, ll. 7-15; App. 461, l. 18 – 470, l. 18. One of the individuals asked Cooper for some "three-cent candy" and placed eighteen cents on the counter for it. According to Cooper, while he was turned around getting the candy, he heard a pop and felt a bullet pass by his ear. He admitted that he did not see anyone fire a weapon but he assumed that the sound he heard came from inside the store. App. 28, l. 12 – 32, l. 15; App. 42, l. 2 – 44, l. 15; App. 53, ll. 2-18.

Cooper fell behind the counter, got his .38 caliber revolver, and began shooting at the young men. Cooper continued to shoot at them through the store window as they ran away. One of the bullets struck Matthews. App. 32, l. 16 – 34, l. 9; App. 138, l. 1 – 140, l. 9; App. 221, ll. 2-8. The defense's theory at trial was that no crime was committed, no shot having been fired and no demand for money or goods having been made. To the extent any crime was committed, defense counsel argued that Matthews was merely present and not a part of any conspiracy. App. 307, l. 11 – 313, l. 23.

Matthews did not testify at his trial, but at the PCR hearing he said that he went into the store only after Dawkins and Segars had been inside for a couple of minutes. Matthews had dropped them by the store to buy candy on the way to take them home. Cooper started shooting almost as soon as Matthews walked inside and Matthews was struck with a bullet as he ran away. Matthews was able to drive a short distance to the house of Segar's brother, Charles Bishop.

¹ In the trial transcript, Jeffrey Dawkins is also referred to by his nickname "Powder." Melvin Segars is also referred to by his nickname "Vinny." App. 65, ll. 16-19; App. 93, l. 23 – 94, l. 1.

Bishop called for an ambulance and Matthews was taken to the hospital. App. 461, l. 18 – 470, l. 18.

Indictment and Trial

On May 11, 2009, the Williamsburg County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner Antwine Matthews for assault with intent to kill, attempted armed robbery, possession of a weapon during a violent crime, and criminal conspiracy. The indictment was also against Matthews' co-defendants, Jeffrey Dawkins and Melvin Segars. App. 700.

On May 12-14, 2010, Matthews proceeded to trial before the Honorable Clifton Newman and a jury. App. 1. Matthews was represented by Charles Barr, and the State was represented by assistant solicitor Kimberly Barr. App. 1; App. 134; App. 284. On the second day of trial, May 13, 2010, Judge Newman announced that the Honorable D. Craig Brown, would take over presiding in the case. App. 195, l. 15 – 196, l. 24. Judge Brown was recently elected and had been sitting with Judge Newman during the trial. App. 560; App. 594, l. 9 – 596, l. 14. Judge Newman then left the courtroom. App. 479, ll. 1-5; App. 490, ll. 2-14; App. 540, l. 24 – 541, l. 7; App. 596, ll. 5-14.

The jury found Matthews guilty of attempted armed robbery and conspiracy but acquitted him of the other two charges. App. 338, l. 23 – 339, l. 4. Judge Brown sentenced Matthews to consecutive sentences of fifteen years for attempted armed robbery and five years for criminal conspiracy, for a total of twenty years incarceration. App. 343, ll. 1-10.

Direct Appeal

On direct appeal, Matthews was represented by appellate defenders Tristan Shaffer and Susan Hackett. App. 345. Portions of the trial transcript were missing either because the tape was inaudible or otherwise malfunctioned. They important portions that were missing included

the testimony of Kim Hanna, the judge's jury charge on conspiracy, and two portions of the discussion of the jury's questions. App. 126, ll. 23-24; App. 330, ll. 10-15; App. 330, l. 25 – 331, l. 1; App. 334, l. 6; see also App. 132, ll. 13-15. Appellate counsel did not file any motion to reconstruct the missing portions of the record. Rather, counsel filed a brief pursuant to Anders v. California, 386 U.S. 738, 87 S.Ct. 1396 (1967). On September 5, 2012, the Court of Appeals dismissed the appeal following the Anders procedure. App. 356. The remittitur was issued on September 21, 2012. App. 358.

PCR Application and Evidentiary Hearing

On January 8, 2013, Matthews filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR). App. 359. The State filed its Return on June 17, 2013. App. 368. On June 12, 2015, Matthews, through counsel, filed an Amendment to his application. App. 336.

On July 16, 2015, an evidentiary hearing was held before the Honorable Steven H. John. Matthews was represented by Tricia Blanchette. The State was represented by Assistant Attorney General Daniel Gourley. App. 374. Matthews, trial counsel Charles Barr, and Matthew's mother, Abigail Cooper, all testified at the hearing. App. 375.

Matthews testified that the solicitor made a plea offer of ten years both prior to trial and again on the second day of trial, prior to Judge Newman turning the case over to Judge Brown to preside. App. 392, l. 17 – 393, l. 3; App. 394, l. 20 – 395, l. 1; App. 396, ll. 1-21; App. 435, ll. 4-23. He and trial counsel discussed the offer, but trial counsel advised him that he “felt very strong about the case” and “[did not] see the judge giving [him] any more than fifteen years; so it's worth a five-year gamble.” App. 393, ll. 3-13. It was Matthews understanding that trial counsel based his advice on his experience practicing before Judge Newman. Had Smith known that Judge Brown, with whom trial counsel had no experience, would have been his sentencing

judge, he would have accepted the State's plea offer. App. 395, ll. 2-7; App. 399, l. 15 – 400, l. 5; App. 452, ll. 11-15.

Trial counsel testified that you “always” consider who the judge will be when talking to a client about a plea offer. App. 487, ll. 12-17. He admitted that his only experience was with Judge Newman, as Judge Brown was newly elected. Trial counsel was surprised that Judge Brown ran Matthews' five year sentence consecutive to the other sentence. App. 487, l. 19 – 488, l. 18; App. 493, ll. 13-17. While trial counsel could not recall the specific plea offer extended to Matthews, he testified that it was Matthews' decision to “go ahead and roll the dice.” He did not encourage Matthews to accept the plea because he thought that they had a good chance of success at trial. App. 486, l. 2 – 487, l. 10; App. 526, ll. 6-10.

Matthew's mother, Abigail Cooper, was present throughout Matthew's trial and privy to his conversation with counsel about the plea offer. App. 538, l. 1 – 539, l. 2. Ms. Cooper said that trial counsel led them to believe that Clifton Newman was going to be “the judge” and was confused when Judge Newman left the courtroom. App. 539, ll. 13-22; App. 540, ll. 5-23.

Order of Dismissal and Post-Judgment Motion

On September 16, 2015, Judge John filed an Order of Dismissal, denying Matthews' PCR application. App. 655 – 689. The Findings and Conclusions section began with a finding that Matthews could not show prejudice stemming from any of his allegations because there was “clear evidence of overwhelming guilt.” App. 668 – 670. The Court then ruled on the thirteen of Petitioner's allegations. App. 670 – 689. Though the Order recognizes that PCR counsel amended the application to include “an additional claim of ineffective assistance counsel for failing to object to the recharge of the jury,” that allegation was not ruled upon in the Order of Dismissal. App. 657.

On October 30, 2015, PCR counsel Tricia Blanchette filed a Motion to Reconsider or to Alter or Amend pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRCP, on Matthew's behalf. She cited to the Court's failure to rule upon the allegation raised by oral amendment, specifically ineffective assistance of counsel for failure to object to the Court's response to the jury's questions and recharge. PCR counsel also argued that the Court's threshold finding of overwhelming evidence of guilt as to all allegations raised was improper. App. 690 – 694. The State filed its Return to the motion on November 13, 2015, alleging that the PCR court "properly ruled on all issues presented at the post-conviction relief hearing and Applicant's motion should be denied." App. 695 – 698.

On November 30, 2015, Judge John filed an Order denying the Motion and reaffirmed its prior Order of Dismissal. App. 699.

This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

I. The PCR court erred in finding trial counsel was effective where trial counsel failed to object to a change in the presiding judge midway through the trial.

Relevant Facts

Both Judge Newman and Judge Brown presided over portions of Matthews' trial. App. 1; App. 134; App. 284. Judge Clifton Newman was the judge assigned for General Sessions court in Williamsburg County the week of May 10, 2010, when Matthews' trial took place. App. 560. While there were no assignments for Judge Brown, Judge Newman's assignment included a notation "Sitting With: Brown, D." App. 560; App. 561; see S.C. CONST Art. V, § 4 ("The Chief Justice shall set the terms of any court and shall have the power to assign any judge to sit in any court within the unified judicial system."). According to trial counsel, it is common to see a new judge, like Judge Brown at the time, sit with a more experienced judge when first elected.² App. 488, l. 19 – 489, l. 10; App. 493, l. 23 – 494, l. 2; see also App. 594, l. 9 – 596, l. 14.

After the parties returned from their lunch break at 2:15 p.m. on the second day of trial, Judge Newman announced that Judge Brown would "take over presiding." App. 195, l. 15 – 196, l. 14. Judge Newman asked if there was "[a]ny objection by the state or defense." App. 196, ll. 1-2. Trial counsel responded: "None from the Defense." App. 196, l. 4. Judge Newman told the jury: "Ladies and gentlemen, you have witnessed two judges here presiding this week. I explained it all to the members of the jury panel earlier in the week during the course of the orientation. Judge Brown is going to now take over presiding in this case." App. 196, ll. 19-24.

At the PCR hearing, trial counsel did not recall whether Judge Newman remained in the courtroom thereafter. However, both Matthews and his mother, Abigail Cooper, testified that Judge Newman left after stating that Judge Brown would "take over." App. 479, ll. 1-5; App.

² Judge D. Craig Brown was elected by the General Assembly to the position of Circuit Judge, At-Large, Seat Number 8 on February 3, 2010.

490, ll. 2-14; App. 540, l. 24 – 541, l. 7. Ms. Cooper said that Judge Newman was the only judge presiding during the initial jury selection but that the second judge appeared during or after voir dire. She was confused when Judge Newman left. App. 539, ll. 3-19; App. 540, ll. 5-23.

The PCR judge ruled that the allegation that trial counsel was deficient in failing to object to the switch in the presiding judge was “wholly meritless” and that Matthews failed to show how he was prejudiced “by Judge Brown presiding over his trial.” App. 673-74.

Discussion

While the change in the presiding change may ordinarily be inconsequential, it was important in this case, where trial counsel advised Matthews to reject to the State’s plea offer based on his experience with Judge Newman. See discussion infra, Issue II. Trial counsel testified to the obvious, which is that who the sentencing judge is going to be matters in advising your client whether to accept a plea offer. App. 487, ll. 12-17. Thus, beyond just the influence that the change in presiding judges may have had on the jurors, Matthews was prejudiced because trial counsel’s advice that he was only risking an additional five years if convicted was premised upon Judge Newman acting as the sentencing judge. Judge Brown sentenced Matthews to a total of twenty years, double the time that Matthews would have received had he accepted the State’s ten-year plea offer.

A criminal defendant is guaranteed the right to effective assistance of counsel under the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution. U.S. CONST. amend. VI; Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). “Where allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel are made, the question becomes, ‘whether counsel’s conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result.’ ” Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985) (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 686). Courts

evaluate allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel using a two-pronged test. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989) (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 668).

First, the applicant must demonstrate counsel's representation was deficient, which is measured by an objective standard of reasonableness. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687–88. “Under this prong, ‘[t]he proper measure of attorney performance remains simply reasonableness under prevailing professional norms.’” Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625 (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688). Second, the applicant must demonstrate he was prejudiced by counsel's performance in such a manner that, but for counsel's error, there is a reasonable probability the result of the proceedings would have been different. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694. “A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.” Id. “A defendant need not show that counsel's deficient conduct more likely than not altered the outcome in the case.” Id.

Here, the PCR court's finding that “trial counsel's testimony that Judge Brown presided over the entire trial” was credible has no support in the record. App. 673. At most, trial counsel testified that Judge Brown was consistently in the courtroom, but certainly not that Judge Brown was taking an active role as a presiding judge throughout the trial. App. 490, ll. 2-14. While the trial transcript does not specify which judge was speaking, trial counsel specifically referenced Judge Newman's preliminary instructions twice during the trial. App. 17, ll. 19-22; App. 300, ll. 17-19. Further, Judge Newman's statement that Judge Brown would “**take over presiding**” is indicative of the fact that Judge Newman was the judge actively presiding over the case while Judge Brown observed. App. 195, l. 15 – 196, l. 24. This is further supported by the testimony of Matthews and his mother that they thought Judge Newman was “the judge.” App. 394, l. 24 – 395, l. 7; App. 396, l. 19 – 397, l. 24; App. 479, ll. 1-3; App. 539, ll. 3-23.

Additionally, the parties appeared before Judge Newman at a discovery motions hearing held September 10, 2014, related to Matthew's PCR action. App. 589. A transcript of that hearing was introduced at the PCR hearing as Applicant's Exhibit 3, without objection. App. 400, l. 6 – 403, l. 5; App. 589. At the motions hearing, Judge Newman recalled his involvement in Matthews' trial and said:

Looking at the record on appeal, it say[s] appeal from Williamsburg County, Clifton Newman and D. Craig Brown. I recall that when Judge Brown was -- during his first few weeks on the bench, he sat with me in Williamsburg County during his initial observation period, you might say, and also during that time took the lead in some of the cases.

So, I believe that space on this transcript, that I would have been the lead trial judge, you might say. So, this is not a case that I would hear as far as making any rulings, in fact, in the interest of anyone, including Mr. Matthews, since I was the trial judge.

App. 594, ll. 9-20. Judge Newman said: "We'll take charge. When they seem that they have their footing, we say okay, you're on your own." App. 595, ll. 1-3. When PCR counsel said that she assumed that Judge Newman was probably sitting with Judge Brown because he was a newer judge, Judge Newman corrected her, saying "He was sitting with me. I wasn't sitting with him." App. 595, ll. 4-10; see App. 402, ll. 5-19. Matthews said then that Judge Newman "sat for, like, two days and **then the Judge Brown took over.**" App. 596, ll. 5-12. The amendment to Matthew's PCR application, which added the allegation that trial counsel was ineffective in failing to object to the judge in the presiding judge, was not filed until June 12, 2015. App. 366 – 367. Matthews was certainly not tailoring his response to Judge Newman at the discovery motions hearing in anticipation of a PCR allegation not raised until nine months later, adding credence to his recollection of the roles of the two judges articulated at the motions hearing.

Though factually distinguishable because it involved the absence of the sole presiding judge, the Illinois Supreme Court's decision in People v. Vargas, 673 N.E.2d 1037 (Ill. 1996). The trial

judge in Vargas excused himself from the courtroom during the defense's cross-examination of a State's witness regarding a statement allegedly made by the defendant. Id. at 1039. The Vargas court noted that "a judge's active presence on the bench during a criminal jury trial is an essential safeguard which aids in providing a defendant with a fair trial." Id. at 1041. The court also said that "a judge's absence from the bench might unduly influence the attitude of jurors so as to deny defendant an impartial trial." Id.

Regarding the potential influence upon the jury, the Vargas court explained that "jurors are ever watchful of the attitude of the trial judge and his influence upon them is necessarily and properly of great weight, thus his lightest word or intimation is received with deference and may prove controlling." Id. at 1042. The Vargas court also discussed Durden v. People, 61 N.E. 317, 322 (Ill. 1901), in which a judge who had no prior involvement with the case substituted as the presiding judge during the defense's closing arguments. 673 N.E.2d at 1042. The Durden Court wrote: "It is impossible for us to say that no injury resulted to [defendant] from the substitution, in the manner heretofore indicated, of one judge for another during the trial of the cause It cannot be known what impression this change may have made upon the minds of the jury to the prejudice of [defendant]." 61 N.E. at 322.

In the present case, it is not disputed that Judge Brown was present in the courtroom throughout Matthews' trial, with the potential exception of a portion of the voir dire. App. 396, ll. 1-21; App. 539, ll. 3-19; App. 540, ll. 5-23. However, it was Judge Newman who was actively presiding over the trial through lunchtime on the second day of trial. App. 17, ll. 19-22; App. 195, l. 15 – 196, l. 24; App. 300, ll. 17-19; App. 595, l. 4 – 596, l. 14. The trial continued an additional day and a half, during which Judge Newman was absent from the courtroom. As such, Judge Newman was unable to provide any guidance to the newly elected Judge Brown

regarding ruling on motions, jury charges, or sentencing. Though Petitioner was acquitted of assault with intent to kill, it is notable that the jury charges were so disorganized that the attempted armed robbery charge was given in the middle of the charge on assault with intent to kill. See App. 325, l. 6 – 328, l. 25; App. 547, l. 10 – 551, l. 10. Further, Judge Brown did not read the jury questions into the record,³ instead making them Court's exhibits, which were subsequently lost by the Clerk's office. App. 332, ll. 23-24; App. 334, ll. 19-22.

Additionally, Judge Newman's absence from the courtroom may have been confusing to the jury, just as it was confusing to Matthew's family, or given the perception that Judge Newman no longer thought Matthews' case was important. Further, as will be discussed more fully *infra* in Issue II, trial counsel based his advice regarding the solicitor's plea offer upon his experience with Judge Newman as a sentencing judge. If nothing else, he should have objected to the change in judges on that basis, or at the very least requested a recess to consult further with Matthews regarding the plea offer.

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