STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Williamsburg County
Steven H. John, Circuit Court Judge

2013-CP-45-006
Appellate Case No. 2016-000048

RECEIVED

DEC 28 2016

S.C. SUPREME COURT

ANTWINE MATTHEWS,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JULIE A. COLEMAN
Assistant Attorney General
Bar No. 102214

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

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

to raise every 'colorable' claim suggested by a client would disserve the very goal of vigorous and effective advocacy..." Jones, 463 U.S. at 754, 103 S.Ct. 3308.

Generally, in analyzing a claim of ineffective assistance of appellate counsel, the Court applies the Strickland test just as it would when analyzing a claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel. See Southerland v. State, 337 S.C. 610, 616, 524 S.E.2d 833, 836 (1999). Thus, in this case, we ask 1) whether appellate counsel's performance was deficient, and 2) whether Respondent was prejudiced by appellate counsel's deficient performance. Bennett v. State, 383 S.C. 303, 309, 680 S.E.2d 273, 276 (2009). To prove prejudice, the applicant must show that, but for counsel's errors, there is a reasonable probability he would have prevailed on appeal. Anderson v. State, 354 S.C. 431, 434, 581 S.E.2d 834, 835 (2003).

Discussion

Petitioner argues that Appellate Counsel should have moved to reconstruct the trial transcript before too much time had passed for its participants to recall the important missing portions. Respondent submits that, because Petitioner failed to provide the reconstructed portions of the transcript that he argues would have changed the outcome of the appeal, he cannot, as a matter of law, prove that he was prejudiced by Appellate Counsel's failure to make this motion.

In order to prove prejudice to the PCR court, Petitioner was required to show what the missing portions of the transcript were and exactly which lines would have changed the outcome of the appeal had they been discussed and argued on to the appellate court. "It is not enough for the defendant to show that the errors had some conceivable effect on the outcome of the proceeding. Virtually every act or omission of counsel would meet that test, and not every error that conceivably could have influenced the outcome undermines the reliability of the result of the proceeding." Strickland at 693, 104 S. Ct. at 2067. This Court has repeatedly held that "a PCR

applicant *must produce the testimony* of a favorable witness *or otherwise offer the testimony in accordance with the rules of evidence* at the PCR hearing in order to establish prejudice from the witness' failure to testify at trial." Bannister v. State, 333 S.C. 298, 303, 509 S.E.2d 807, 809 (1998) (emphasis in original). "The applicant's mere speculation what the witnesses' testimony would have been cannot, by itself, satisfy the applicant's burden of showing prejudice." Glover v. State, 318 S.C. 496 at 498-99, 458 S.E.2d 538 at 540 (1995). Here, as noted by the PCR court in the Order of Dismissal, Petitioner "failed to present any credible evidence on this issue." App. 677. "Instead, [Petitioner] merely pointed to the excerpts missing from [the] transcript without presenting any credible evidence as to what actually took place during the portions that were missing." App. 677.

Petitioner argues that the first discussion of what happened during the missing portions of the trial transcript took place at the PCR hearing, which was over three years after the trial, and that this period of time was unreasonably long for the witnesses to recall the specific details of the trial. PWC at 20. He further argues that he was prejudiced because reconstruction was not possible at the PCR hearing in order to effectuate meaningful appellate review. PWC at 21. This Court should take note that missing transcripts are very often reconstructed after five years or longer in many other cases. Court reporters are required to keep their tapes of court proceedings for a minimum of five years before they are allowed to reuse or destroy the tapes. SCRCP 607(i). In post-conviction relief, it is not uncommon for a trial or guilty plea transcript to be reconstructed because more than five years have passed and the tapes no longer exist for the action to be transcribed. While it is true that participants in the trial might not remember all of the details of the proceeding as time passes, it is clearly not impossible to make a meaningful reconstruction of a transcript years after the trial.

Furthermore, if anything prejudicial or objectionable had occurred in the missing portions of the transcript, it is likely that the witnesses would have remembered them. If any of the trial testimony or jury charges had been so questionable as to allow Petitioner a new trial, it is extremely likely that Trial Counsel would remember it. The fact that Trial Counsel was asked to recall what occurred during the missing portions of the transcript and he could not remember detail supports the theory that nothing memorable occurred. While it is conceivable that something objectionable did occur and Trial Counsel had simply forgotten it, Petitioner's speculation of this suggestion is not enough to overcome his burden of proving prejudice.

Additionally, one of the reasons Petitioner asserts that the missing portions of the transcript are important is that Petitioner "raised an allegation that trial counsel was ineffective in failing to object to the recharge of the jury in response to the jury questions." PWC at 18. Petitioner seems to be arguing that Appellate Counsel should have reconstructed the transcript so that Petitioner could prove that Trial Counsel was ineffective at trial. This argument is meritless. First, Petitioner would not have raised this issue until he filed his application for post-conviction relief, which was after the dismissal of his direct appeal. Ineffective assistance of counsel is an issue that is only proper for post-conviction relief. See S.C. Code Ann. § 17-27-20; Al-Shabazz v. State, 338 S.C. 354, 363, 527 S.E.2d 742, 747 (1999). Appellate Counsel on direct appeal had no duty to act on Petitioner's behalf on claims of ineffective assistance of counsel, which were unrelated to the direct appeal. Appellate Counsel cannot and should not be held responsible for failing to argue or preserve post-conviction relief issues which are not yet relevant and not within the scope of his representation.

Petitioner should not be granted a new trial only because a few small portions of the transcript of his original trial are missing. Petitioner has failed to prove that anything in those

missing portions affected his trial or that his conviction would have been overturned on appeal because of the missing portions of the transcript. Because Petitioner has not proven that these missing portions of transcript are prejudicial, he cannot, as a matter of law, meet his burden in proving that Appellate Counsel was ineffective. Therefore, this Court should affirm the PCR court's finding that Appellate Counsel was effective and deny this Petition for Writ of Certiorari.

IV. Probative evidence supports the PCR court's finding that Petitioner can show no resulting prejudice stemming from any allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel because there is clear overwhelming evidence of guilt.

Petitioner argues that the PCR court erred in making a finding of clear overwhelming evidence of guilt and held Petitioner to an improperly high burden. Respondent submits that the PCR court's finding of overwhelming evidence was supported by probative evidence and was properly applied under South Carolina case law.

Relevant Law

Where there is overwhelming evidence of guilt, an applicant cannot meet his burden of proving prejudice by any alleged deficiencies by trial or appellate counsel. See Franklin v. Catoe, 346 S.C. 563, 570 n. 3, 552 S.E.2d 718, 722 n. 3 (2001), cert. denied, 535 U.S. 1114, 122 S.Ct. 2332, 153 L.Ed.2d 162 (2002) (finding overwhelming evidence of guilt negated any claim that counsel's deficient performance could have reasonably affected the result of the defendant's trial); Geter v. State, 305 S.C. 365, 367, 409 S.E.2d 344, 346 (1991) (concluding reasonable probability of a different result does not exist when there is overwhelming evidence of guilt); cf. Ford v. State, 314 S.C. 245, 248, 442 S.E.2d 604, 606 (1994) (holding respondent failed to prove prejudice from trial counsel's failure to request an alibi charge where there was overwhelming evidence of guilt).

Discussion

The PCR court specifically pointed to several pieces of evidence supporting their finding of overwhelming evidence of guilt. App. 668. The PCR court noted that the victim identified Petitioner as one of the three defendants who robbed him. The victim stated that he saw a white car running outside shortly before he was robbed, and co-defendant witness Jeffrey Dawkins testified that Petitioner owned a white Crown Victoria. The PCR court noted "[a]lthough Victim could not positively identify [Ppetitioner] as the shooter, it was undisputed that [Ppetitioner] was in the store when the armed robbery took place." App. 669.

The PCR court further pointed to Dawkins's testimony that he and Petitioner committed the armed robbery and he provided the reason that they committed the crime—they and the third co-defendant had run out of marijuana and they planned to rob Victim in order to get money to purchase more marijuana. Dawkins testified that Petitioner was driving his white Crown Victoria when they robbed the victim. Dawkins testified that Petitioner got shot by the victim during the robbery when he fired a .38 caliber pistol at Petitioner and his co-defendants. James Green of the South Carolina Law Enforcement Division testified at trial that the bullet recovered from Petitioner's abdomen matched that of a .38 or .357 weapon.

The PCR court also pointed to the testimony of witness Kim Hannah that Petitioner was driving his white Crown Victoria that day and that he had a gun on him that day that she only saw in his possession. Finally, the PCR court noted that Petitioner addressed the trial court prior to sentencing to apologize for everything that happened and indicate that he learned from the mistakes he made and wanted to change his life.

All of these details are probative evidence upon which the PCR court relied in making its finding of overwhelming evidence of guilt. South Carolina case law clearly states that

overwhelming evidence of guilt negates any claim that counsel's deficient performance could have reasonably affected the result of the trial. Franklin, *supra*. Therefore, because the PCR court's finding was based on probative evidence, and because its implications were properly applied under South Carolina case law, this Court should affirm the PCR court's finding and deny this Petition for Writ of Certiorari.

V. The PCR court's finding that Trial Counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to the jury recharge was proper because it adequately stated the basis for the result it reached and substantially complied with statutory requirements for making findings of fact.

Petitioner argues that the PCR court erred in denying Petitioner's Motion to Alter or Amend because the PCR court failed to make specific findings of fact and conclusions of law relating to the allegation that Trial Counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the trial court's response to the jury's questions and recharge of the jury. Respondent submits that, regardless of the lack of specific, detailed findings regarding this issue in the Order of Dismissal, probative evidence supports the PCR court's finding that Trial Counsel was not ineffective on these grounds, and the Order of Dismissal adequately stated this evidence as the basis for its findings.

Relevant Law

"When reviewing an action at law, on appeal of a case tried without a jury, this Court will not disturb the judge's findings of fact 'unless found to be without evidence which reasonably supports the judge's findings.'" In re Treatment & Care of Luckabaugh, 351 S.C. 122, 131, 568 S.E.2d 338, 342 (2002) (citing Townes Associates, Ltd. v. City of Greenville, 266 S.C. 81, 86, 221 S.E.2d 773, 775 (1976)). The South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure require "[i]n all actions tried upon the facts without a jury or with an advisory jury, the court shall find the facts specially and state separately its conclusions of law thereon. Rule 52(a), SCRPC. "The rule is

directorial in nature so 'where a trial court **substantially complies with Rule 52(a) and adequately states the basis for the result it reaches**, the appellate court should not vacate the trial court's judgment for lack of an explicit or specific factual finding.'" In re Treatment & Care of Luckabaugh at 131, 568 S.E.2d at 342 (citing Noisette v. Ismail, 304 S.C. 56, 58, 403 S.E.2d 122, 123 (1991)(emphasis added)).

Discussion

Petitioner correctly states that the PCR court did not provide an enumerated section in the Order of Dismissal where it included any specific findings of facts or conclusions of law regarding the allegation of ineffective assistance of trial counsel that was orally amended to the application at the evidentiary hearing. However, despite the lack of its own subheading in the Order of Dismissal, the amendment was noted in the Order, App. at 657, and it is clear that the PCR court's conclusion that Trial Counsel was not ineffective was based on probative evidence.

As Petitioner noted, both Petitioner and Trial Counsel testified at the evidentiary hearing about Trial Counsel's alleged failure to object to the jury questions and recharge at trial. PWC at 27; App. at 440-441; App. at 500-502. The PCR court specifically noted in the Order of Dismissal's "Summary of Testimony Presented" that (1) Petitioner testified that Judge Brown answered various questions received from the jurors during deliberations, App. at 660; (2) that Petitioner alleged that Trial Counsel should have requested that the jury questions be placed on the record, App. at 662; (3) that Trial Counsel testified that if he felt that additional jury instructions were warranted then he would have requested them, App. at 666; and (4) that Trial Counsel testified that Judge Brown's jury instructions were not confusing and he gave proper jury instructions, App. at 667. The PCR court was clearly presented with this testimony at the evidentiary hearing and considered it in its decision. It also reviewed the trial transcript and all

relevant testimony regarding the missing portions of the trial transcript and the no-longer-existent trial court exhibits. The PCR court reviewed and used all of this probative evidence in making its decision of whether Trial Counsel was ineffective in this regard, and it held that Petitioner failed to meet his burden in proving ineffectiveness.

Furthermore, PCR Counsel filed a Motion to Alter or Amend, and the PCR court went back to review its findings again. After a **second** review of the evidence and the Order of Dismissal, the PCR court found that Petitioner's Motion to Alter or Amend should be denied because the Order of Dismissal properly made all findings that the PCR court intended to make.

The PCR court clearly found that Petitioner "has not established any constitutional violations or deprivations that would require this court to grant his application." App. 687. The PCR court substantially complied with Rule 52(a)'s requirement of adequately stating the basis for the result it reached. It clearly listed the probative evidence relating to this allegation that it used in making its decision. Regardless of the lack of a paragraph in the Order of Dismissal about this portion of the testimony, it is clear that the PCR court specifically addressed all aspects of Petitioner's allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. Based on the evidence presented, the PCR court found that Petitioner failed to meet his burden in proving ineffective assistance of counsel.

Because the PCR court's ruling substantially complies with the statutory requirement, and because the PCR court's Order of Dismissal did include specific details that stated the basis on which it found that Trial Counsel was not ineffective, this Court "should not vacate the trial court's judgment for lack of an explicit or specific factual finding." Noisette v. Ismail, 304 S.C. 56, 58, 403 S.E.2d 122, 123 (1991). Therefore, the Petition for Writ of Certiorari should be denied.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the State submits that the Petition should be denied. Should this Court grant the Petition for Writ of Certiorari, Respondent requests permission to more fully brief the issues herein.